No. 97201-0

SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JEOUNG LEE and SHERRI MCFARLAND, on their own behalf and on
behalf of all persons similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER a/k/a KING COUNTY
PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT #2,

Petitioner.

King County Superior Court No. 16-2-27488-9 SEA,
the Honorable Catherine Shaffer presiding

—
Court of Appeals, Division I, No. 77694-1-I

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John J. White, Jr., WSBA No. 13682
Kevin B. Hansen, WSBA No. 28349
Rebecca L. Penn, WSBA No. 46610
Livengood Alskog
121 Third Avenue
P.O. Box 908
Kirkland, WA 98083-0908
Ph: 425-822-9281
Fax: 425-828-0908
white@livengoodlaw.com
hansen@livengoodlaw.com

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

King County Public Hospital District No. 2 d/b/a EvergreenHealth (“the District”) is the defendant below and petitioner.

II. DECISIONS BELOW

The District asks the Court to grant discretionary review of the following court of appeals’ decisions: (1) Published Opinion – filed February 11, 2019,¹ and (2) Order Denying Appellant’s Motion for Reconsideration – filed April 12, 2019.²

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issues presented are whether the court of appeals erred by:

(1) Ignoring the inherent variance between the District’s Collective Bargaining Agreement (“CBA”) provision of a single 30-minute meal period for 12-hour shifts and WAC 296-126-092, which prohibits more than five consecutive hours of work either *before or after a meal period*;

(2) Disregarding the implementation and history of long-standing CBA provisions governing meal periods – the common law of the CBA – and impermissibly construing the CBA, which is a matter governed by its arbitration provision; and

(3) Determining that the District waived its right to arbitrate even though plaintiffs’ newly-filed Second Amended Complaint added a

¹ Appendix at App. 1-22.

² Appendix at App. 23-24.

current employee as a class representative, changing the nature of the lawsuit by putting forward-looking relief before the trial court.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural background

Plaintiff Jeoung Lee filed this lawsuit as a putative class action in November 2016, alleging that she and other registered nurses in the District's Emergency Department ("ED") were denied rest and meal breaks and not paid for missed breaks in violation of Washington wage statutes and regulations. CP 1-6, 13-20. Lee abandoned the initial complaint, which sought certification as an injunctive relief class under CR 23(b)(2).

The First Amended Complaint, filed January 17, 2017, sought CR 23(b)(3) certification. The trial court certified a class on March 8, 2017, CP 250-53, but closed the class period at the last day Lee was employed. CP 250-51. The court reconsidered its certification order, substantially modifying the class definitions on April 17, 2017. CP 254-56.

Four months later, Lee moved to amend her complaint to add Sherri McFarland as an additional class representative on the basis that McFarland was a current employee. CP 257-62. The trial court granted the motion to amend on August 15, 2017. CP 431-34. Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint was filed the next day. CP 435-42.

The District moved to compel arbitration on September 1, 2017, noting the hearing without oral argument for September 12. CP 544-56. On September 18, the trial court required the motion to be re-noted on the dispositive oral argument calendar. November 3 was the earliest date available. After forcing the District's counsel to identify the motion to compel arbitration as a motion under either CR 12 or CR 56, rather than CR 7, the court denied the motion under CR 12 based on the pleadings alone. VRP 8:14 – 10:3, 12:8 – 13:9, 14:6-21, 15:1 – 16:15; CP 745-48.

The District appealed. On February 11, 2019, the court of appeals' published opinion affirmed the trial court's denial of the motion to compel arbitration. The District filed a motion for reconsideration under RAP 12.4, which the court of appeals denied on April 12, 2019.

B. Factual background.

The District is a public hospital district organized under Chapter 70.44 RCW, serving northeast King and southeast Snohomish Counties. Lee worked as a registered nurse in the ED from February 2010 until August 2016, when she was fired for violating patient privacy rights. CP 32-33, 1087. McFarland worked as a registered nurse in the ED from July 2015 until August 2017. She quit promptly after the court appointed her a class representative. CP 880, 672.

1. Collective bargaining agreements governed the terms and conditions of plaintiffs' employment.

Collective bargaining agreements between the District and Washington State Nurses Association ("WSNA") have governed registered nurse employment for many years. CP 79-207. The CBAs govern "with respect to wages, hours of work and conditions of employment." Specific provisions address time reporting, rest breaks and meal periods. The CBAs have a long course of conduct under their terms.

WSNA is the "sole and exclusive bargaining representative for all regularly scheduled full-time, regularly scheduled part-time and per diem registered nurses engaged in patient care at the Hospital, excluding supervisors, nursing care coordinators, temporary nurses, students, and all other employees." CP 82, 122, 165 (¶1.1). The CBAs resulted from the parties' negotiations:

17.1 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement all had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands and proposals with respect to any subject or matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understandings and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. . . .

CP 108, 148, 191. The rest break provisions of the CBA vary from and are more generous than the regulation. The meal period permitted under the CBA for RNs working 12-hour shifts is less favorable than the otherwise applicable regulation.

a. CBA terms governing meal periods on 12-hour shifts varied from the generally applicable regulations.

Rest and meal breaks in the ED are administered under the CBA's terms, not WAC 296-126-092, as McFarland and Lee both acknowledged. CP 569-70, 581. The CBAs have consistently authorized a single, 30-minute meal period for nurses working 12-hour shifts. CP 93, 133, 176. The question whether the single 30-minute meal period varies from the regulation, which prohibits more than five hours work before or after the meal, has been litigated by the District and class members previously – there, the trial court granted summary judgment to the District on the precise issue of variance from the regulation. CP 929-31. No change in the terms of the CBA was sought by WSNA in the most recently concluded CBA. CP 1243-44.

Both plaintiffs confirmed the CBA's application during their depositions:

Q. So on a 12-hour shift, what is your understanding of how many rest and meal breaks you're entitled to?

A. So one 30-minute break and then three 15-minute rest breaks.

* * *

Q. . . . And would you agree that per this agreement, you did receive a 30-minute unpaid lunch period and three 15-minute breaks while you were working in the ED?

A. Yes.

CP 569-70, 578; *see also* CP 591. But for the CBA, employees would be required to have *two* 30-minute meal periods during a 12-hour shift to comply with the 5-hour work limit.

b. CBA terms governing rest breaks also vary from and are more generous than the regulation.

WAC 296-126-092(4) requires only a ten-minute paid rest break for every four hours worked. The CBA is more generous, providing a 15-minute rest break for every four hours worked: “All nurses shall be allowed a rest period of fifteen (15) minutes on the Employer’s time, for each four (4) hours of working time.” CP 93, 133, 176 (§ 7.7).

Further, state law permits unscheduled intermittent rest totaling ten minutes as a “break.” WAC 296-126-092(5). In contrast, from June 1, 2011 to the present, nurses may claim and be paid for a “missed” rest break if they do not receive ten *consecutive* minutes of rest as part of each 15-minute break. CP 38.

Under the CBA, disputes concerning rest and meal breaks are subject to a mandatory, four-step grievance process initiated by the aggrieved WSNA member,³ which includes, at the last step, arbitration:

³ CP 106-07, 147-48, 190 (“Step 1. Nurse and Manager. If any nurse has a grievance, the nurse and/or the Local Unit Chairperson, or designee, shall first present the grievance in writing Step 2. Nurse, Local Unit Chairperson and Director. If the matter is not resolved to the nurse’s satisfaction at Step 1, the nurse and/or the Local Unit Chairperson, or

. . . A grievance is defined as an alleged breach of the express terms and conditions of the Agreement. . . . If a grievance arises, it shall be submitted to the following grievance procedure.

* * *

If the grievance is not settled on the basis of the foregoing procedures, the Association may submit the issue in writing to final and binding arbitration The arbitrator shall have no authority to add to, subtract from, or otherwise change or modify the provisions of this Agreement, but shall be authorized only to interpret existing provisions of this Agreement as they may apply to the specific facts of the issue in dispute.

CP 106-07, 147-48, 190-91 (¶ 16.1). The CBA also enables a group of employees to file a grievance. CP 108, 148, 191 (¶ 16.2). Neither McFarland nor Lee submitted the contract claims asserted in this lawsuit to the CBA's grievance and arbitration process. CP 576-77, 893. Lee did, however, submit other disputes, such as racial discrimination claims, to the CBA's grievance process, showing that she knew how to initiate a grievance under the CBA. CP 1203.

2. District policies and procedures allow nurses to take meal and rest breaks and be paid for missed breaks.

Consistent with the CBA's ratifications of the District's reserved management rights, CP 84, 124, 167-68 (¶ 3.1), the District adopted

designee, shall present the grievance in writing Step 3. Nurse, Chief Nursing Officer and Association Representative. If the matter is not resolved to the nurse's satisfaction at Step 2, the nurse and/or Local Unit Chairperson, or designee, shall present the grievance in writing Step 4. Arbitration”).

policies governing rest and meal breaks for nurses. The Hours of Work/Overtime and Time & Attendance policies generally state that:

- Employees who are paged or telephoned during a meal break are responsible for communicating that they are on break;
- Scheduled rest periods are not required where the nature of the work allows employees to take intermittent rest equivalent to ten minutes (modified by CBA);
- Employees record their time in the Laborworkx system;
- Each employee is responsible for submitting accurate time, and the employee timecard is the legal record of time and attendance;
- Employees are required to record missed rest and meal breaks in the Laborworkx timekeeping system.

CP 337-360. ED departmental policies require that all missed breaks be recorded and paid. CP 361-365.

3. When nurses comply with the requirement to record missed breaks, they are always paid.

The District educates, trains and instructs its nurses to record all missed breaks in the Laborworkx electronic timekeeping system. Recording a missed meal or rest break is easy – employees need only push a button (Code “40”, “62”, “64”, or “66”) when clocking out at the end of their shift. CP 37, 64-71, 374-77, 388. When they do so, they are paid for

the missed break. CP 27, 210, 222, 226, 404, 892. McFarland testified that nurses, including herself, are trained and understand how to record a missed break in Laborworkx:

Q. Did you feel that the training that you received from Evergreen was adequate to allow you to understand how to record missed breaks in LaborWorkx?

A. Yes.

CP 891.⁴ The time records can be corrected at any time. CP 956-57, 959, 989-91, 1085. Nurses experience no pressure from the District to underreport missed breaks. CP 22, 27, 210, 214, 217-18, 221-22, 230, 401.

The District relies on its nurses to record time worked, including missed meals and breaks. CP 32, 41-43. Accurate reporting is necessary to ensure adequate staffing. CP 32. McFarland understood that it was her responsibility to report missed breaks. CP 891.

Both named plaintiffs knew how to report missed breaks on Laborworkx and did so. During the class period, Lee used Laborworkx to report that she missed 2% of meal breaks and 17% of rest breaks she was

⁴ Other nurses' testimony corroborated McFarland's experience. *See also* CP 22 ("I've been told that we must record missed breaks. . . . I'm well aware of the ED's rest and meal break policies Whenever I miss a break, I always log out the missed break on the Laborworkx system."); CP 27, 47, 214, 217-218, 221, 225 ("The ED management is very clear that ED nurses must be given their breaks and direct the department's charge nurses to ensure all breaks are given. . . . If I am aware a nurse has missed a break, I tell him or her to record it on the Laborworkx timekeeping system."); CP 233 ("I have been trained to always use the no break code when I miss a break."); CP 237, 383.

entitled to. CP 1127, 1129-30. Likewise, McFarland reported on Laborworkx that she missed nearly 6% of her meal breaks and nearly 13% of her rest breaks. *Id.*

4. Plaintiffs' claims require interpretation of the CBA.

Plaintiffs' complaint alleges that

Defendant's practices under which Plaintiffs and the class did not receive meal and rest breaks violates RCW 49.12 and WAC 296-126-092.

CP 439. For public employers, a CBA can vary from otherwise applicable meal and rest break rules. RCW 49.12.187. The CBA contains terms regarding meal and rest breaks. Whether the CBA varies from state law will require interpreting the CBA.

The complaint omits any mention of the CBA, but Lee's and McFarland's testimony relates to relief based directly on contractual rights granted under the CBA – they explicitly referred to the contractual 15-minute rest breaks, not the regulation's ten-minute breaks:

Q. . . . [A]ll of the rest breaks you have in the ED are 15 minute breaks. . . .

A. Yes.

CP 565; *see also* CP 567-72, 574-75, 578, 581, 585-88, 591-92, 594-95.

McFarland expressly made a claim for missed breaks where she received the ten-minute break under state law:

Q. If you only received the first ten minutes of a 15-minute rest break –

A. Um-hmm.

Q. – did you consider that you missed the rest break?

A. Yes.

CP 881. A 10-consecutive-minute rest break is created by the CBA, not state law.

Although McFarland testified that she *never* missed meal breaks,⁵ she reported a meal as missed when it was “late” and expected to be paid for it, based on her understanding of the union contract:

Q. . . . When you get your meal break, is it always within the first five hours of your work?

A. No.

* * *

Q. Did you attempt to report a late rest break as missed?

A. Again, as I had said, I asked Jennifer about the timetable for taking breaks *that was in the union contract*, and that if I didn’t get it within that time, was I allowed to clock out that I did not get it, and she said no.

Q. Do you think that Jennifer Celms is wrong?

A. I think *if the union contract states that* they’re required to give you a rest break within a certain period of time, then if they do not give you that, they ought to pay you for it, yes.

CP 583-84, 589-90 (emphasis added). The CBA must be interpreted to resolve McFarland’s claim.

⁵ CP 582:

Q. Are there occasions where you miss your meal break?

A. I don’t think since my employment at Evergreen that I’ve missed a meal break.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard for discretionary review.

The Court should accept discretionary review of the court of appeals' decisions under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4) because the decisions conflict with this Court's decision in *Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of Peninsula*, 130 Wn.2d 401, 924 P.2d 13 (1996) regarding the presumption of arbitration of employment disputes under the Public Employees' Collective Bargaining Act ("PECBA"), Chapter 41.56 RCW, and involve an issue of substantial public interest that has not been considered by this Court – the conditions under which a public employer may vary from the requirements of WAC 296-126-092.

B. **The court of appeals' ruling that an inherent inconsistency between the CBA and regulation is insufficient to constitute a variance undermines public employers' statutory authority to establish terms of employment – a matter of substantial public interest.**

As a public employer, the District has the right to collectively bargain for CBA terms which "specifically vary from or supersede, in part or in total, rules adopted under this chapter regarding appropriate rest and meal periods." RCW 49.12.187. In *Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys.*, 146 Wn.2d 841, 852, 50 P.3d 256 (2002), this Court held that a collective bargaining agreement for *private* employers can only "enhance or exceed" the standards in WAC 296-126-092. The Court has never, however, interpreted the *public* employer's expansive variance language in RCW

49.12.187. The court of appeals' ruling effectively reads the public employer variance out of existence. The District (and other public employers) should not be exposed to liability by requiring its nurses to comply with the CBA's meal period terms rather than the regulation's.

The court of appeals opined that CBA paragraph 7.7 governing rest breaks and meal periods “does not vary from or supersede WAC 296-126-092.” Slip Op. at 5. This is incorrect – the CBA authorizes a *single*, 30-minute meal period for all District nurses, including during a 12-hour shift: “Nurses shall be allowed *an* unpaid meal period of one-half (1/2) hour.” CP 93, 133, 176.⁶ WAC 296-126-092(2) expressly prohibits more than five consecutive hours of work *before or after* a meal period. It also mandates a second meal period for a 12-hour shift. On a 12-hour shift, a single 30-minute meal period can never comply with this regulation's timing requirements. Paragraph 7.7 constitutes an inherent, bargained-for variance from the regulation. If it requires interpretation, it requires arbitration.

⁶ The addendum to the CBA provides further specificity, providing that each 12-hour shift “will include *one* (1) thirty (30) minute unpaid lunch period and three (3) fifteen (15) minute . . . paid rest breaks.” CP 114, 155, 198 (emphasis added). The court of appeals stated that the addendum applied only to a “combined shift schedule,” Slip Op. at 7, n.19, ignoring past practices of implementation. Even if correct, however, the nurses working the combined shift schedule are governed by the CBA, which varies from the regulation.

The court of appeals' conclusion that administering paragraph 7.7 "necessarily relies on compliance with the regulation rather than the CBA varying from or superseding the regulation," Slip Op. at 7, gives primacy to the general over the specific. This rewrites the CBA and determines the extent of the CBA's variance.

Whether meal period claims are barred because the nurses bargained for a variance from WAC 296-126-092(2) requires interpretation of the CBA by an arbitrator. The trial court would exceed its authority by interpreting the CBA's meal period provisions. *United Food & Commercial Workers Union, Local 770 v. Geldin Meat Co.*, 13 F.3d 1365, 1370 (9th Cir. 1994) (trial court exceeded its authority by interpreting substantive contract provisions).

Under RCW 41.56.122(2), a CBA involving public employees may "[p]rovide for binding arbitration of a labor dispute arising from the application or the interpretation of the matters contained in a collective bargaining agreement." PECBA prevails over conflicting statutes and regulations, and is "liberally construe[d] . . . to accomplish its purpose." *Municipality of Metro. Seattle v. Pub. Emp't Relations Comm'n*, 118 Wn.2d 621, 633, 826 P.2d 158 (1992); RCW 41.56.905. PECBA's purpose "is to promote the continued improvement of the relationship between public employers and their employees by providing a uniform

basis for implementing the right of public employees to join labor organizations of their own choosing and to be represented by such organizations in matters concerning their employment relations with public employers.” RCW 41.56.010. WSNA is the labor organization representing ED nurses, and the forward-looking claims in this lawsuit undercuts WSNA’s role as “the sole and exclusive bargaining representative.” The court of appeals’ decision also reverses the presumption in favor of arbitration as expressed by this Court in *Peninsula Sch. Dist. No. 401 v. Pub. Sch. Emps. of Peninsula*, 130 Wn.2d 401, 413-14, 924 P.2d 13 (1996).

C. The court of appeals’ opinion ignored the parties’ practice under the series of CBAs, which becomes part of the contract as the CBA’s common law. The CBA’s common law guides the interpretation of its provisions and is a matter for the arbitrator.

The single meal period for 12-hour shifts has been part of the District’s CBA with nurses for many years. CP 900, 931, 1244. It was not even raised in the most recently-concluded CBA negotiations with WSNA. CP 1243-44. Its implementation is a long-standing practice, which is part of the CBA’s common law. *United Steelworkers of Am. v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Co.*, 363 U.S. 574, 581-82, 80 S. Ct. 1347, 4 L. Ed. 2d 1409 (1960). Respondents testified that they “frequently” or “usually” took their meal break after the fifth hour of a shift. CP 483, 759, 1415, 1421. The practice under the CBAs of providing the single meal period

after the fifth hour of 12-hour shifts has been found to be a variance from state law. CP 931. While the Court is not bound by the prior decision, the decision evidences the practice under the CBA, which is binding, and is a matter for resolution by an arbitrator in construing the CBA's terms.

D. The District's time for initiating a motion to compel arbitration began to run when plaintiff filed her second amended complaint, and not before.

Before the Second Amended Complaint, Lee's lawsuit against the District was only for backward-looking, monetary damages. Lee was not a District employee when she filed this lawsuit on November 10, 2016 seeking injunctive relief or when she filed her First Amended Complaint on January 17, 2017, abandoning the original complaint's request for CR 23(b)(2) class status.⁷ At that time, there was no available equitable relief in the lawsuit which could impact the District's future actions regarding rest and meal periods. Likewise, neither the trial court's original nor reconsidered class orders included claims for injunctive or declaratory relief. CP 250-56.

On August 3, 2017, Lee moved to amend the complaint to add McFarland as a representative plaintiff for all class members. CP 257-72. Unlike Lee, McFarland was a then-current employee of the District. On

⁷ A former employee lacks standing to bring a class action for future injunctive relief. *Wash. Educ. Ass'n v. Shelton Sch. Dist.*, 93 Wn.2d 783, 790, 613 P.2d 769 (1980); NEWBERG ON CLASS ACTIONS, § 2.7 at 87.

August 15, 2017, the trial court granted Lee's motion to add McFarland as a representative plaintiff, CP 431-34, and Lee and McFarland filed the Second Amended Complaint on August 16, 2017. CP 435-42.

With the filing of the Second Amended Complaint, plaintiffs fundamentally changed the nature of the lawsuit. For the first time, they presented claims by a *current* employee for forward-looking relief against the District. CP 269-70. This substantially expanded and changed the lawsuit, causing the District to evaluate what defenses were appropriate to meet the new set of claims. The most appropriate defense was a motion to compel arbitration because McFarland's testimony and claims directly implicated the terms of the CBA. As of August 16, 2017, it was clear the case must be arbitrated consistent with the provisions of the CBA. The District filed its motion two weeks later. CP 544-56.

The court of appeals held that the District acted inconsistently with its right to arbitrate because it raised arbitration as an affirmative defense when answering the earlier versions of the complaint. The purpose of pleading arbitration as an affirmative defense is to preserve the defense if evidence produced in discovery indicates that arbitration is appropriate. Civil Rule 8(c) mandates that arbitration be pled as an affirmative defense to avoid waiver. The court of appeals' holding, if upheld, places the District and other employers in *zugzwang*: failing to plead arbitration as an

affirmative defense waives the defense, but pleading arbitration as an affirmative defense pending further development of the case and clarification of claims is “evidence” of actions inconsistent with the right to arbitrate, and also waives the defense.

As discovery proceeded in July 2017 and plaintiffs filed the Second Amended Complaint in August 2017, it became clear that the CBA’s provisions were directly implicated by McFarland’s participation as a representative plaintiff (*e.g.*, damages for meals after the fifth hour). Her forward-looking claims (CP 439 (¶ 30); CP 440 (¶ 34(f))) would affect the terms and conditions of the nurses’ employment with the District, requiring arbitration under the CBA.

The District’s opposition to Lee’s motion to continue the trial date was also not inconsistent with its right to arbitrate. Lee filed her motion to continue the trial date on July 31, 2017, which was *before* she filed her motion to file a Second Amended Complaint. *See* Respondent’s Resp. Br. at 17 (filed 4/20/18). The District’s response was due on August 4, 2017, the same day that Lee filed her motion to amend the complaint and *before* the Second Amended Complaint was filed. *Id.* The District opposed the motion to continue the trial date to compel Lee to present evidence and disclose witnesses on her claims and prevent further changes to the nature of her lawsuit, which was constantly evolving. There was no impetus

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