FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/12/2019 4:24 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 97201-0

IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(COA No. 77694-1-I)

JEOUNG LEE and SHERRI MCFARLAND, on their own and on behalf of all persons similarly situated,

Respondents,

v.

EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER a/k/a KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL DISTRICT #2,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

David E. Breskin, WSBA #10607 Cynthia J. Heidelberg, WSBA #44121 BRESKIN JOHNSON & TOWNSEND, PLLC 1000 Second Avenue, Suite 3670 Seattle, WA 98104 Telephone (206) 652-8660 *Counsel for Respondents*

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

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeals Decision is Consistent with Peninsula

This Court has stated: "Arbitration is a matter of contract and a party cannot be required to submit to arbitration any dispute which he has not agreed so to submit."³ In *Peninsula*, 130 Wn. 2d at 415, it stated the *Steel Workers* rule that "we look to the face of the collective bargaining agreement to determine whether this dispute is arbitrable."

On its face, the CBA here does not make claims for state law violations subject to arbitration. CP 106. Its arbitration clause is very narrow and covers only claims for breach of the "*express terms*" of the CPA, not "implied terms," work rules, or standard practices. *Compare* CP 106 with CBA clause in *Romney*, 199 Wn. App. at 599 (arbitration required of "claims" defined in CBA "as 'all disputes arising out of or related to the Employment Agreement, your employment by FMG, and/or your separation from employment with FMG."'). Indeed, "[p]arties may choose which issues they want to arbitrate...." *Romney, supra.*

Notably, in opposing Lee's motion to add McFarland as a Class representative, Evergreen argued that while the class claim alleged by Lee was for *violation of the WAC*, not the CBA, McFarland's claim based on

³ Hill, 179 Wn. 2d at 54; See, also, Volt Info. Scis, Inc. v. Bd. of Trs. of Leland Stanford Jr. Univ., 489 U.S. 468, 478, 109 S.Ct. 1248 (1989).

her deposition testimony was different. It was for breach of the CBA and had to be arbitrated. But in granting leave to file the SAC, the trial court rejected this argument. It ruled McFarland's claim was typical of the Class claim for violation of the WAC and she was a proper "Class representative." Evergreen did not appeal that order but now makes the same argument to this Court that McFarland's deposition shows her claim is for breach of the CBA. The argument is baseless. The only certified class claim is for violation of the requirements of WAC 296-126-092.

Plaintiffs are the "master of their complaint" and can limit their claims to violations of state law. *See Burkhardt v. Swedish Health Servs.*,

2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 74711 at *10 (W.D. Wash. May 16, 2017):

Even if plaintiff, as a member of the bargaining unit, had substantial rights under the CBA and could have brought suit under § 301, she remains master of her complaint and chose not to do so."). On its face, *as written*, the CBA's arbitration clause does not apply.

See also Hinterberger v. Catholic Health, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 96105

(W.D. N.Y. Nov. 25, 2008 at *19-20):

Plaintiffs' allegation that they worked during their unpaid lunch period sets forth an independent statutory right under section 162 of the NYLL4 [the New York Wage Statute]. As a result, any provisions *in the CBA* discussing meal periods are irrelevant to Plaintiffs' claim.

Washington courts enforce contracts as written and may not "add

to, subtract from, modify, or contradict the terms of a fully integrated

written contract...." *In re Marriage of Schweitzer*, 132 Wn.2d 318, 327 (1997). If the CBA's grievance procedure on its face does not apply to plaintiff's claim, the court enforces the CBA's clause as written and denies arbitration. *Int'l Union of Operating Eng'rs Local 148, AFL-CIO v. Gateway Hotel Holding, Inc.*, 956 F. Supp. 2d 1071 (E.D. Mo. 2013). Because the CBA that Evergreen negotiated with WSNA, *as written*, does not mandate arbitration of claims for violation of the WAC, the court properly denied the motion to compel arbitration of the state law claims.⁴

B. The Decision Below Does Not Affect Any Right to Modify

Evergreen argues the Court of Appeals' decision ignores a public employer's right to modify the WAC requirements for *when* meal and rest breaks must be given and adversely affects Evergreen's ability to modify such requirements given existing work practices. But Evergreen admitted in deposition, it never *tried to negotiate* with WSNA for any modification of *when* meal and rest breaks had to be given under the WAC. The CBA does *not* say meal breaks are given at the "mid-point" of a 12-hour shift or by the sixth hour of work. Had Evergreen wanted to modify the WAC requirement of a meal break by the fifth hour of work in the CBA, it had

⁴ Evergreen repeatedly cites to extrinsic evidence that is irrelevant. WSNA is not a party and extrinsic evidence applicable to interpretation of a contract does *not* include the subjective and unilateral intent of one of the parties. *See, Lynott v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co.*, 123 Wn. 2d 678, 684, 871 P.2d 146 (1994).

to bargain for *WSNA's* agreement to modify the requirement and that modification had to be *expressly* stated in the CBA to be arbitrable. It admitted through Ms. Hofmeister it did not do so. CP 1247. The CBA has no such modification. Instead, it says breaks "*shall be* administered" consistent with WAC 296-126-092. CP 528. "Shall" is mandatory.

Equally, while public employers can modify WAC requirements by *agreement* with the union, the modification has to be clearly set out in the CBA to comply with public policy. *Brady v. Autozone Stores, Inc.*, 188 Wn.2d 576, 583-84 (2017) (waivers of worker's statutory protections are disfavored and must be clearly stated.).⁵ Here, Evergreen admitted in deposition the only modification in the CBA relating to meal breaks is eliminating one of two breaks required under the WAC for a 12-hour shift. There is no modification in the CBA's break clause for *when* the one break permitted must be given. Instead it says breaks shall be administered consistent with the WAC. The WAC requires the break by the 5th hour of work. If Evergreen thinks that makes its compliance with the WAC impossible or its position untenable, its remedy is to negotiate with WSNA for a change. It cannot ask this Court to impose it on WSNA by fiat.

Evergreen also admitted in deposition the CBA has no provision

⁵ See, also RCW 49.12.187; L&I Guidance, E.S.C. 6 at p. 3. Drinkwitz v. Alliant Techsystems, Inc., 140 Wn.2d 291, 300-01, 996 P.3d 582 (2000).

on "intermittent" breaks. CP 1249-50. So whether the WAC requirement of a 10-minute rest break can be satisfied by "intermittent rest" will be governed by regulations implementing the Wage statute, not by the CBA.

Because the CBA's break clause is clear in requiring compliance with the WAC for *when* breaks must be administered, there is no need for contract interpretation. Nor under the arbitration clause is the conduct of the parties to the CBA (Evergreen and WSNA) relevant, because arbitration only applies to a claim for breach of the CBA's *express* terms.

C. Evergreen has no Right to Compel Arbitration

The CBA is interpreted under the rules of contract interpretation. *Hill, supra.* Washington courts interpret contracts "*as written*" and not as *one* of the parties "wishes" it had been written. *In re Marriage of Schweitzer*, 132 Wn. 2d at 327. Here the CBA's Arbitration clause, Step 4, says the "Association" (WSNA) "may" request arbitration. It does not say Evergreen can compel RNs to arbitrate. Ms. Hofmeister admitted this in deposition. CP 1254-55. Evergreen could have *tried* to contract with WSNA for such a right. But did *not do so* and cannot do so by judicial fiat.

D. There is no Dispute between Evergreen and WSNA at Issue

The right to compel arbitration requires agreement. So the party seeking to compel arbitration must *first* show there is a contract with *that party* requiring arbitration of *that claim. Volt Info. Scis, Inc., supra.*

Evergreen's CBA is a contract with WSNA, not with the RNs. CP 1264-65. Because RNs are not parties to the CBA, Evergreen's cited cases saying that "all questions upon which *the parties* disagree are presumed to be within the arbitration provision unless negated by clear implication," do not apply. This Class action does not involve a question upon which the *parties* to the CBA, Evergreen and WSNA, disagree. To the contrary, WSNA sent the RNs a letter telling them they were "free to participate" in this action. The case involves a disagreement between Evergreen and its RNs over whether Evergreen has complied with the WAC, not the CBA.

Evergreen admitted in deposition, it did not contract with WSNA to waive the rights of RNs to sue it for violations of the WAC. CP 1254. Nor did it contract for an arbitration clause requiring RNs to arbitrate. *Id*.

Indeed, when WSNA sued Evergreen in a prior case for not giving rest breaks, it alleged a violation of the WAC's 10-minute break requirement, just as Plaintiffs have done here. Evergreen did not demand arbitration of WSNA's claim. Instead, it paid the claim. *Pugh*, 177 Wn. App. at 352. So, if one considers the conduct of the parties to the CBA, it shows Evergreen and WSNA believe claims for violation of WAC 296-126-092 are *not* subject to the CBA's grievance and arbitration clause.

E. Evergreen waived any Alleged Right it had to Arbitrate

Even if Evergreen had a right to compel arbitration of the claims in

this Class action under the CBA, which it did not, it waived that right by actively litigating in court and taking its chances on the court's rulings for 10 months before moving to compel arbitration. In doing so, it imposed on Plaintiffs over \$140,000 in fees and costs. Such conduct waives a right to compel arbitration. *See, Steele v. Lundgren*, 85 Wn. App. 845 (1997) (delay of 10 months before seeking to compel arbitration after litigating in court and taking discovery depositions, sufficient to support court's ruling that party waived right to compel arbitration.); *see, also Romney*, 199 Wn. App. at 601; *Martin v. Yasuda*, 829 F.3d 1118 (9th Cir. 2016) (the policy favoring arbitration is that arbitration provides *a quick and inexpensive* means to resolve individual claims and disputes. When a party actively litigates in court and imposes on the other party both delay in resolving the dispute and extensive fees, the very basis for the rule favoring arbitration and the benefit to the party of arbitration no longer exist).

Evergreen admits it alleged the claims were subject to arbitration under the CBA from the *very beginning* in its Answer. It now says it did not mean it, which violates it duty under CR 11. It argues it had to assert an "arbitration" place-holder, but CR 12 does not waive the defense of arbitration if not stated in the Answer. It also argues that the delay was justified by Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint ("SAC")'s request for injunctive relief. But that language was in the 2016 Complaint and First Amended Complaint and Plaintiffs stated that the relief it sought was not forward looking and had nothing to do with future changes in Evergreen's practices that had to be negotiated with the union. *See*, SAC at CP 17:

Plaintiffs request injunctive relief barring Evergreen from continuing to withhold payment of wages due and overtime pay for missed rest and meal breaks over the class period. These wages and pay are owed to Plaintiff ad the class members.

The class period, as noted, ended December 31, 2016 or 21 months *before* Evergreen moved to compel arbitration in September 2018.

VI. CONCLUSION

Now that it has been sued by RNs for violating WAC 296-126-092, Evergreen is unhappy with two provisions in its CBA. It wants a *post facto* modification of the meal/rest period clause that requires breaks "be administered consistent with WAC 296-126-092" in order to permit a meal break after the fifth hour of work and an expanded grievance/arbitration clause that applies to breach of the CBA's "implied terms," work rules, or employee practices, rather than only express terms.

Stripped of its baseless assertions, Evergreen's Petition for Review boils down to Evergreen asking this Court to impose new CBA clauses on WSNA and nurses that are to its liking without the trouble of negotiating with WSNA and getting its consent. WSNA is not a party to this action, but if it were, that is not this Court's role. The Petition should be denied.